IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 54,623

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellants, MR. DEAN FORSBERG and MR. WALTER
FREEMAN, live in public housing operated by the Housing
Authority of the City of Miami Beach, Florida. MR. FORSBERG
is disabled and living on Social Security disability benefits.
MR. FREEMAN is 84 years of age and has no assets. (R-1)(A-1).
They bring this action on behalf of themselves and on behalf
of the proposed class of approximately 1539 tenants and 2300
applicants (R-48), who are compelled by their economic circumstances to seek and accept Miami Beach Public Housing.

Public Housing is provided by Appellees as housing of last resort for those of limited income. It is the only source of safe, sanitary and decent housing, available at low cost, to low income individuals, such as Appellants and their proposed class. (R-4)(A-4).

The public housing provided by Appellees is built with and subsidized by funds from the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) in accordance with 42 USC 1401 et seq. Rents paid by Appellants are determined by considering items such as family income, including income of children, age, medical expenses and disabilities or

handicap. 42 U.S.C. 1437(a). The difference between the rents paid by the Appellants, and the cost of providing the housing is provided to the Housing Authority pursuant to an annual contributions contract entered into with HUD. 42 U.S.C. 1437(c)(R-3, 4)(A-3,4).

Appellants provided to Appellees information of a personal and confidential nature concerning their family status and relationship, income, expenses, assets, employment and medical history, (R-3)(A-3). The files also reflect their name, address, sex, age, occupation, next of kin, social service requests and needs (R-40). This information was provided by Appellants as a condition of obtaining safe and sanitary housing at a price they could afford (R-3)(A-3). Appellants lawfully and honestly included the correct information required with the expectation that the personal information provided would remain confidential (R-3)(A-3).

Indeed, until July 19, 1977, the Miami Beach Housing

Authority considered the tenant-applicant files to be confidential, and refused to allow the general public to view these files (R-4)(A-4). On or about July 19, 1977, Appellee

MURRAY GILMAN, Executive Director of the Miami Beach Housing

Authority, implemented a new policy of making all

tenant-applicant files available to unfettered and uncensored public viewing, in accordance with an Attorney General's opinion which he had requested, 1977 Op. Att'y. Gen. Fla. 077-69 (July 11, 1977), (A-10), interpreting §119.07 Fla. Stat. (1975) as it pertained to tenant files. After the policy change, as of February 15, 1978, eight persons had requested to see the tenant-applicant files. (R-45, 46). requesting parties were allowed to view the original files with no deletions to protect sensitive and potentially damaging information (R-40, 43). The Miami Beach Public Housing Authority does not require the requesting party to state any reason or purpose for wanting to obtain access to the information maintained on tenants and applicants (R-42) and gives no instruction or advice regarding the confidentiality of said information (R-42). Appellants have suffered and will continue to suffer humiliation, embarrassment, needless invasion of their personal privacy, denial of their right to be let alone, harassment and other adverse consequences when information concerning their personal lives is subject to public inspection (R-4, 5)(A-4,5).

Appellants have brought this action to enjoin any further disclosure of their records.

STATEMENT OF CASE

This is an appeal from a Final Order of the Circuit Court dismissing Appellants' Complaint for failure to state a cause of action. (R-51, 52)(A-8,9). Appellants were the Plaintiffs below. Appellees, the Housing Authority of the City of Miami Beach and Murray Gilman, Executive Director, were the Defendants below. In the brief the parties will be referred to as Appellant and Appellee. The symbol "R" will designate the Record on Appeal. The symbol "A" will designate the Appendix.

In its Order on Appellees' Amended Motion to Dismiss, the Circuit Court passed directly on the validity of Chapter 119 Florida Statutes (1975), as it applied to the subject tenant files, and construed controlling provisions of the Florida and Federal Constitutions, finding that said statute was valid and not violative of the Florida and Federal Constitutions (R-51, 52) (A-8,9). This court has jurisdiction to hear this appeal pursuant to Art. V §3(b)(1) Fla. Const. and Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(a)(1)(A)(ii).

On or about July 12, 1977, Appellants were advised that, in accordance with Attorney General's Opinion No. 077-69,

July 11, 1977, the Housing Authority of the City of Miami
Beach was changing its long-standing position of protecting
the confidentiality of tenant-applicant public housing files
and would shortly thereafter begin allowing the general
public to view said files, pursuant to \$119.01 et seq. Fla.

Stat. (1975). On or about July 15, 1977, Petitioners filed
a class action suit in the Circuit Court of the 11th Judicial
Circuit in and for Dade County, Florida, Case No. 77-20990,
seeking injunctive and declaratory relief on the basis that
Appellants would suffer great humiliation, embarrassment and
an invasion of their right to privacy, if Appellees were allowed
to release their files to the public for inspection. Appellants
sought a temporary injunction against the release of said
records.

On July 20, 1977, an Order was entered by the Circuit Court denying Petitioner's Motion for Temporary Injunction. Petitioners then filed a Motion for an Order Maintaining The Status Quo in the Circuit Court. On July 20, 1977, Judge Turner of the Circuit Court denied the Motion.

Appellants then filed a Notice of Interlocutory

Appeal and a Motion for an Order Maintaining Status Quo Ante

in the District Court of Appeal of Florida, Third District.

Appellants sought, in the Third District, an emergency order that would maintain the status quo until the District Court had the opportunity to consider the merits of Appellants' Interlocutory Appeal.

On July 21, 1977, the District Court denied Petitioners' Motion.

On July 25, 1977, Appellees filed a Petition for Certiorari and Petition for a Constitutional Stay Writ in the Florida Supreme Court. On July 27, 1977, the Supreme Court of Florida denied the Petition for the Constitutional Stay Writ. On or about August 3, 1977, Appellants noticed their dismissal of their Petition for Certiorari in the Florida Supreme Court and their Interlocutory Appeal in the District Court of Appeal of Florida, Third District. On or about August 5, 1977, the District Court of Appeals of Florida, Third District, dismissed the interlocutory appeal filed by Appellants.

On or about August 8, 1977, the Supreme Court of Florida, upon Appellants' Notice of Dismissal, ordered that the Petition for Writ of Certiorari be dismissed.

On September 23, 1977, Appellants made a Motion for an Order for Leave to File an Amended Complaint in the Circuit Court. On October 6, 1977, the Motion was denied.

Petitioners took a voluntary dismissal of their

Complaint on October 12, 1977. On October 27, 1977, Appellants refiled their class action Complaint for declaratory and injunctive relief, having made certain amendments to their pleadings in the Circuit Court of the 11th Judicial Circuit.

(R-1)(A-1). Appellants further filed a Notice of Previous

Filing (R-13) and Appellees filed a Motion to Transfer (R-15).

On November 9, 1977, the Circuit Court issued an Order to

Transfer pursuant to Local Rule 10(a), and the case was transferred to the original Judge (R-14).

On November 17, 1977, Appellees filed their Motion to Dismiss (R-17). On January 25, 1978, Appellants filed a Motion For Determination of Class (R-32). On March 22, 1978, Appellee filed an Amended Motion to Dismiss (R-49). On June 9, 1978, after hearing argument, the Circuit Court entered its order granting Appellees' Amended Motion to Dismiss (R-51, 52) (A-8).

On June 22, 1978, the Court granted the Appellants'
Motion to Proceed in Forma Pauperis (R-54) and on July 5, 1978,

Appellants filed their Notice of Appeal (R-55), appealing the dismissal of their Complaint.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Section 119.01 et seq. Fla. Stat. (1975), as presently applied to public housing tenant-applicant files, provides for the general public rummaging of said files.

Appellants' files contain information of a personal and confidential nature concerning, inter alia, their family status and relationship. Such rummaging has subjected Appellants to humiliation, embarrassment and invasion of their "personhood", thereby violating public policy and their fundamental right to privacy as guaranteed by the Federal and Florida Constitutions. Nixon v. Administrator of General Services,

433 U.S. 425 (1977); Roe v. Wade, 410 U.S. 113 (1973); Plante v. Gonzalez, 575 F. 2d 1119 (5th Cir. 1978); Cason v. Baskin,

20 So. 2d 243 (Fla. 1945); Harless v. State ex rel Schellenberg,

360 So. 2d 83 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978).

Appellants cannot be denied their constitutionally guaranteed right of privacy merely because they have exercised their federally guaranteed right to public housing. Garrity v. New Jersey, 385 U.S. 493 (1967); Wyman v. James, 400 U.S. 309 (1971); Pennypack Woods Home Ownership v. Dahlberg, 47 L.W. 2058 (C.P. Phila. July, 1978).

The statute, as applied, invades "intimate protected relationships" without serving a compelling state interest for the invasion. Roe, supra at 152, 153; Harless, supra, at 91.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONAL GUARANTEES OF PRIVACY PROTECT PUBLIC HOUSING TENANT-APPLICANT FILES FROM GENERAL PUBLIC RUMMAGING PURSUANT TO THE FLORIDA PUBLIC RECORDS ACT.

We have long understood that worship and speech are constitutionally protected, not only for their benefits to a democratic state, but also because liberty in such matters is the essence of personhood. We now know that the U.S. Constitution similarly protects privacy, another fundamental aspect of personhood, and that it does so without pretext. Harless v. State ex rel Schellenberg, 360 So. 2d 83, 90 (Fla. 1st DCA, 1978) (hereinafter referred to as Harless).

A. Appellants Will Suffer Humiliation And Invasion Of Their Personal Privacy If Intimate And Confidential Information They Provided To Secure Public Housing Is Released To The General Public.

Appellants assert that as public housing tenantapplicants, their constitutional right to privacy, both decisional and disclosural, mandates that the personal information placed on their applications and in their tenant files remain confidential and that said files and applications, due to constitutional guarantees of privacy, are exempt from \$119.01 et seq. Fla. Stat. (1975).

Appellants' Complaint was dismissed upon Appellee's Amended Motion to Dismiss (R-49-52)(A-8). The law in Florida is well established that in determining whether a valid cause of action has been stated, the Court, for the purposes of a motion to dismiss, must assume all facts alleged are true. Hammonds v. Buckeye Cellulose Corporation, 285 So. 2d 7 (Fla. 1973). Thus, Appellants' allegations that public housing provided the only safe, sanitary and decent housing available to them, and that they furnished, in confidence, information of a personal, confidential nature concerning family status and relationship, as a condition for obtaining such housing, the release of which would cause them humiliation, embarrassment and invasion of their privacy, must be taken as true, for the purposes of this appeal (R-2-5) (A-2-5).

A full categorical description of the protected zones of privacy is as of yet impossible, but the Supreme Court recognized in Roe v. Wade, that persons enjoy a fundamental right of decisional autonomy, absent compelling state interests in activities within the 'protected intimate relationships' of 'marriage ... procreation ... contraception... family ... and child rearing and education.' (Citations omitted) Harless, supra at 91.

The United States Supreme Court has recently advised that "the outer limits of this aspect of privacy have not been marked." Carey infra at 634. The tenant-applicant files contain information about "protected intimate relationships". Due to the dismissal of their Complaint, Appellants have never been given the opportunity to prove that these files illegitimacy, infidelity, abortion, mental can reveal: illness, mental disability, retardation, educational failure and a multitude of other intimate details. Unless this Court finds this information to be confidential, the general public will have complete access to every document in said They will have this access although they disclose no reason or purpose for seeing these documents. §119.07(1) Florida Statutes (1975). There is nothing in Chapter 119 Florida Statutes (the Public Records Act) that would prevent this information from being disseminated to the school-yard,

the credit application, the "town crier", the neighborhood "back fence", etc. The deleterious effect on a child and on his family may be irreparable if some personal information in his family's file is discussed in the school-yard or in the neighborhood.

B. Public Disclosure Of Appellants' Files Would Violate Their Right To Decisional And Disclosural Privacy.

It is from within the Bill of Rights that the concept of privacy has emerged to protect the fundamental integrity of "personhood". The First, Third, Fourth, Fifth,

Ninth and Fourteenth Amendments, on their own merits, and in

combination with the other amendments create a privacy model

affording this inchoate freedom and right to all persons.

This penumbral approach allows the privacy protections to

expand according to the needs and dictates of our own society.

It has been mostly in the last thirty years, and especially within the past 15 years, that the right of privacy has evolved into more meaningful focus. Such concern may be due, in part, to the geometric growth of technology and cybernetics encroaching ever more rapidly upon the individual

citizen. Both the government and the private sector are able to conjure up, almost magically, the most intimate and potentially devastating details of a person's life at the push of a button. The potential for such abuse not only limits the right to be let alone, but if left unchecked, heralds the downfall of individual privacy.

The Courts, recognizing the danger to individual privacy that our modern society presents, have taken definite steps to reaffirm and further develop the constitutionally protected right of privacy fundamental to this democratic society. The First and Fourteenth Amendments were held by the United States Supreme Court to protect the privacy of an individual to read in his own home, material that outside of his home, would be illegal. Stanley v. Georgia, 394 U.S. 557 (1969) (hereinafter referred to as Stanley). The First Amendment right of association has been held to have a penumbra where privacy is protected from governmental intrusion. Griswold v. Connecticut, 381 U.S. 479 (1965) (hereinafter referred to as Griswold). One of the roots of the right to personal privacy is the Fourth Amendment, Roe v. Wade, 410 U.S. 113 (1973) (hereinafter referred to as Roe).

The Supreme Court found protection in the Fourth

Amendment from governmental eavesdropping, even for a conversation made from a public telephone booth.

The Fourth Amendment protects people, not places. What a person normally exposes to the public even in his home or office is not a subject of the Fourth Amendment protection ... but what he seeks to preserve as private even in an area accessible to the public may be constitutionally protected. Katz v. U.S., 389 U.S. 347, 351 (1969) (hereinafter referred to as Katz).

Katz specifically acknowledges the fact that privacy is also a right to be recognized and protected by the individual states.

The Fifth Amendment respects the innermost feelings and thoughts of an individual, and protects the compulsory production of an individual's papers. Bellis v. U.S., 417 U.S. 85 (1974). The United States Supreme Court has also based the right to privacy on the Ninth Amendment, which provides that the enumeration in the Constitution of certain rights shall not be construed to deny or disparage others retained by the people. Griswold, supra.

Judge Smith's opinion for the court in <u>Harless</u>

found privacy rights to be conceptually derived from several

clauses of the Bill of Rights, particularly as "one aspect of
the liberty 'protected' by the Due Process Clause of the

Fourteenth Amendment." (Citations omitted) Id. at 91.

The right to privacy has been divided into two spheres. The first line of privacy cases recognized the right to decisional privacy. This right has been used to protect a person's right to decisions regarding his or her own body; contraceptive use and information; the right to live with other family members; and the right to choose one's reading material in one's own home. See <u>Griswold</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Eisenstadt v. Baird</u>, 405 U.S. 453 (1972); <u>Roe</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Carey v. Population Services International</u>, 431 U.S. 678 (1977); <u>Moore v. City of East Cleveland</u>, 431 U.S. 494 (1977); <u>Stanley</u>, <u>supra</u>.

The second line of cases can be identified as protecting disclosural privacy - the right to control information about oneself. Disclosural privacy is intricately linked to decisional privacy. Both aspects of privacy are involved in the case at bar.

...Yet, though decisional autonomy and disclosural privacy are distinct enough in concept, they unquestionably are related, and the decisional autonomy cases enlighten this one. Those cases teach that, in constitutional analysis, the forms and occasions of intimate association are not to be elevated over the inviolate intimacies of the person. elevate relationships at the expense of personhood would create new pretexts to replace the old one of property, which was discarded at some trouble. Intimate relationships are not protected because those relationships are constitutional norms of life, but because they involve 'matters so fundamentally affecting a person' that government intrusion tends to debase personhood. Intimate relationships are not themselves the core of the right of privacy, either in its aspect of decisional autonomy or that of disclosural privacy. At the core is the inviolability of personhood. Harless, supra at 91-92.

Appellants' "interest in avoiding disclosure of personal matters" Whalen v. Roe, 429 U.S. 589, 599 (1977), is invaded by the Public Records Act. Appellants' right to decisional privacy, "the independence in making certain kinds of important decisions" <u>Id</u>. at 599, 600, is also invaded by this statute. Information in the file about

psychiatric or certain medical treatment may result in a tenant's refusal to seek further treatment, even when the need for such treatment is medically indicated. A tenant's fear that information in her file will reveal an abortion might prevent that tenant from exercising her right to have an abortion. Information in the file concerning the expenditure of time or money on organizations would violate the associational privacy protection of the First Amendment to the United States Constitution; and where disclosure of this information would inhibit one's participation in these organizations, then the tenants' right to decisional-autonomal privacy would also be violated.

The tenant application requires the name of one's physician. An applicant with the problem of impotency might hesitate to seek treatment from a specialist on sex problems for fear that the physician's name and attendant specialty would be known to the public. The result of the decision not to seek treatment might be that the sexual problem would remain and the marital relationship would continue to suffer.

The question on "church" on the application might chill a tenant's participation in an unpopular religion.

Information contained in a file might cause embarrassment to a previous tenant-applicant who had left public housing and was attempting to begin a new life. All information contained in the files has both disclosural and decisional privacy implications.

C. [A] Fundamental Aspect Of Personhood's Integrity Is The Power To Control What We Shall Reveal About Our Intimate Selves, To Whom And For What Purpose. Harless at 92.

Certain information in the tenant-applicant files, if revealed, will violate fundamental rights to privacy, both disclosural and decisional, as guaranteed by the Federal and Florida Constitutions. Roe; Harless. Other information contained in said files, e.g. financial

... might itself involve the kind of crucial decision-making protected by the Constitution.

Alternatively, financial disclosure might have such a strong impact on making familial decisions which are clearly within the privacy right, that it must be prohibited to protect those choices. Plante v. Gonzalez, 575 F. 2d 1119, 1130 (5th Cir. 1978) (hereinafter referred to as Plante).

Even if, after evaluation and analysis, said information does not come within the decisional branch of the right to privacy, financial and other information certainly is within the disclosural branch of the right to privacy, and thus must be balanced against the state's interest in its disclosure.

Plante at 1132 - 1135.

Finally, the revelation of even the names of persons who either live or who have applied to live in public housing, could cause those persons, and their families great embarrassment.

For even the facially least sensitive information recorded which seemingly does no more than identify the prospects, receives greater import from the context: these persons were not identified for a statistical abstract or for other purposes insignificant to their privacy interests; they were identified ... [As being public housing tenants or applicants]. Harless, supra at 96.

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