IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA J

DEAN FORSBERG and WALTER FREEMAN,

ARGUMENT

POINT ONE

THE MAINTAINING OF THE TENANT'S APPLICATIONS FOR PUBLIC LOW INCOME HOUSING AS PUBLIC RECORDS DOES NOT VIOLATE ANY CONSTITUTIONALLY PROTECTED RIGHT.

The crucial question for resolution here is whether the tenant applications maintained by the Miami Beach Housing Authority come within the protection of the right of privacy found within the Constitution and the Bill of Rights and its penumbras. The Supreme Court has recognized two zones of privacy: the individual's interest in avoiding disclosure of personal matters and an interest in independence in making certain kinds of important decisions, Whalen v. Roe, 429 U.S. 589, 97 S.Ct. 869 (1977). It is the contention of the Appellees that the tenants' applications fall within neither of these zones of privacy, that these applications are legally and validly public records, that the Authority is bound by the Public Records Act, \$119.01, et seq., Fla. Stat. (1977), and that no fundamental rights of the Appellants have been violated.

In Zablocki v. Redhail, 97 S.Ct. 673 (1978), the United States Supreme Court this year, again, was faced with a claimed invasion of the fundamental right of privacy. The Court, while acknowledging that the outer limits of the right of privacy have not yet been marked, did enunciate the areas where they have so far found that the right of privacy does

exist. These areas include personal decisions relating to marriage, procreation, contraception, family relationships, and child rearing and education. In Zablocki, the challenged statute provided that a man could not remarry without first obtaining Court approval when he had previously sired a child and had failed to support that child.

The statute in Zablocki was found to be a direct and substantial interference with the fundamental right of marriage, but is surely far different from the case at hand. What Appellants are asking this Court to do is to step beyond the area which the Supreme Court has so far defined as the limit of the right of personal privacy and to add a new dimension to the right of privacy. Appellees strongly urge that this is not such a matter wherein the right of privacy should be extended.

As this Court itself has acknowledged in <u>Laird v.</u>

<u>Florida</u>, 342 So.2d 962 (Fla. 1977), this Court is bound by the definition of the right of privacy as enunciated by the United States Supreme Court, definitions such as in the <u>Zablocki</u> case, and before that in <u>Carey v. Population Services International</u>, 431 U.S. 678, 97 S.Ct. 2010, 52 L. Ed. 2d 675 (1977). In <u>Laird</u>, the Florida Supreme Court further acknowledged that the United States Supreme Court recently has declined to extend further the scope of the constitutional right to privacy.

"The Court recently affirmed the constitutionality of Virginia's anti-sodomy statute even as applied to two consenting adult male homosexuals. Doe v. Commonwealth's Attorney, 425 U.S. 901, 96 S.Ct. 1489, 47 L. Ed. 751 (1976), aff. 403 F. Supp. 1199 (E.D. Va. 1975). In Paul v.

Davis, 424 U.S. 693, 96 S.Ct. 1155, 47 L.Ed. 2d 405 (1976), respondent's name and photograph were included in a flier of 'active shoplifters' after he had been arrested on a shoplifting charge in Louisville, Kentucky. . . The Supreme Court, in denying Davis relief held, inter alia, that his contention that the defamatory flier deprived him of his constitutional right to privacy was meritless." 342 So.2d at p. 964.

In the case of <u>Paul v. Davis</u>, 424 U.S. 712, 96 S.Ct. 1155 (1976), would seem to be controlling for this case. In <u>Paul v. Davis</u>, the United States Supreme Court essentially held that a person's reputation is not a property interest such as to be protected under the Constitution, and further, that the plaintiff's constitutional right of privacy, as established previously by the Supreme Court, was not invaded in this situation. The Court said:

"In Roe the Court pointed out that the personal rights found in this guarantee of personal privacy must be limited to those which are 'fundamental' or 'implicit in the concept of ordered liberty' as described in Palko v. Connecticut, 302 U.S. 319, 325, 58 S.Ct. 149, 152, 82 L.Ed. 288, 292 (1937). The activities detailed as being within this definition were ones very different from that for which respondent claims constitutional protection. . ." 96 S.Ct. at p. 1166.

The Court went on to discuss Davis' claim of constitutional protection against the disclosure of the fact of his arrest on a shlplifting charge and found that the fact of his arrest was not within any protected zone of privacy. The Court analyzed his claim as being based on the proposition that a state may

not publicize a record of an offical act such as an arrest and specifically rejected that contention as a basis for invoking the constitutional right of privacy.

This Court, being bound by the decisions of the United StatesSupreme Court and having acknowledged that these decisions constitute the current definition of the law of privacy in the State of Florida, Laird v. Florida, supra, it would seem to be bound to hold that the publicizing of a record of an official act, such as the granting of the right to public low income housing, is not such an act as to come within the constitutional protection of the right of privacy. The Supreme Court in Paul v. Davis, supra, specifically said that they declined to extend their privacy decisions and that they have never held in any of the privacy decisions that an official record of a public act comes within the substantive right of privacy.

Paul v. Davis, supra, is further significant for the fact that the Court clearly considered whether reputation was a property interest such as to be granted the protection of the Constitution and rejected that theory. The Court clearly held that the respondent's reputation was not a property interest protected by the Constitution. Thus, it would seem that any claim of the Appellants founded on the damage to individuals or families in their reputation in the community must fail.

Other courts in analogous situations have held that the right of privacy has not been invaded. In Wyman v. James,

400 U.S. 381, 91 S.Ct. 381 (1971), the plaintiffs attacked New York's Aid to Families with Dependent Children requirement of a home visit by a caseworker as a condition for receiving assistance. The United States Supreme Court held that this home visit was not a search in the traditional Fourth Amendment context and that therefore it did not fall within the area protected by the right of privacy. The Court further held that the home visitation was a reasonable administrative tool and served a valid and proper administrative purpose for the dispensation of the program.

In O'Brien v. DiGrazia, 544 F.2d 543 (1st Cir. 1976), the plaintiffs were patrolmen in the Boston Police Department. The defendant Police Commissioner had ordered the plaintiffs to complete financial questionnaires listing all of their sources of income for the year for themselves and their spouses and all significant assets held by them and any members of their household. The plaintiffs refused to supply this information, and were suspended without pay. The plaintiffs attacked the financial questionnaires as an invasion of their right of privacy. The Court discussed what it considered to be the constitutional right of privacy and held that the plaintiffs did not fall within that right of privacy protection.

In discussing the right of privacy the O'Brien Court stated:

"The Supreme Court in its occasions to deal with the concept of privacy has

seemed to refer to autonomy... and even autonomy has been protected only within a limited sphere; 'matters relating to marriage, procreation, contraception, family relationships and child rearing and education.'... Privacy in the sense of freedom to withhold personal financial information from the government or the public has received little constitutional protection." 544 F.2d at pp. 545-546.

The First Circuit went on to hold that even if this sort of intrusion comes within the protection of the Fourth Amendment the patrolmen's legitimate expectation of privacy had not been invaded.

In Whalen v. Roe, supra, the plaintiffs were seeking to enjoin the enforcement of portions of the New York State Controlled Substances Act of 1972 which required the recording of the names and addresses of all persons who obtained, pursuant to a doctor's prescription, certain drugs for which there was both a lawful and an unlawful market. The plaintiffs in that case grounded their claim on the right to privacy. Supreme Court discussed the Act in terms of the right to privacy of the plaintiffs, and held that the Act did not invade that right of privacy and that the Act was constitutional. Court said that no individual had been deprived of the right to decide independently whether to acquire and use medication; that neither the immediate nor the threatened impact of the patient identification requirements constituted an invasion of any right or liberty protected by the Fourteenth Amendment; and that a statutory scheme such as the one involved here was

within the government's powers.

These three cases along with the cases of Zablocki v.

Redhail and Paul v. Davis, supra, mandate that the courts

should be very hesitant about expanding the constitutional

right of privacy, and that in order for that right to be

expanded, something very intimate and unique to the individual

must be affected so as to take away that individual's right to

make a free and independent decision in the matter.

What is really at issue here is a standardized procedure wherein, in order to effectively and efficiently administer public housing, the Appellants have had to fill out an application form with a public agency, the Housing Authority. The information supplied by these people is necessary in order for the Housing Authority to manage the low income housing These applications, with all of the information contained therein, cannot fall within the areas of privacy which the United States Supreme Court has recognized: it does not affect the tenants' decisions on whether to marry or not; it does not affect the tenants' decisions on whether to conceive a child or not; it does not affect the tenants' decisions on how to educate their children; in fact, it does not fall within any of the so-far protected areas of privacy. The Courts have always maintained a policy that they are extremely loathe to expand the areas within the right to privacy and in this instance there is no need to expand the right to privacy.

POINT TWO

THE GOVERNMENT HAS A BONA FIDE AND LEGITI-MATE INTEREST IN HAVING THESE TENANT APPLICATION FILES BEING TREATED AS PUBLIC RECORDS AND THIS INTEREST IS SUFFICIENT TO OVERRIDE ANY INDIVIDUAL CLAIMS.

The Miami Beach Housing Authority, the Defendant below and the Appellee herein, is a public agency whose charge is to administer a public trust fund financed by tax dollars. As part of its duties as a public trustee, the Authority must devise a way to make certain that the available low income housing goes to those who are the most needy and to make sure that the program is administered efficiently. As part of carrying out this charge the Authority has, at all times, required that the application form, which is the subject to this suit, be filled out by all applicants. In this case, as in Califano v. Jobst, 98 S.Ct. 95 (1977), the provision challenged is part of a larger, complex statutory scheme designed to administer a public trust fund. The application is a legitimate part of this statutory trust fund.

The right to housing is not a fundamental right. In Lavine v. Milne, 96 S.Ct. 1010 (1976), the Supreme Court held that welfare benefits are not a fundamental right. In the case of Alcala v. Burns, 545 F.2d 1101 (8th Cir. 1977), the plaintiffs were appealing from a denial of assistance in the Aid to Dependent Children program. The Eighth Circuit Court said:

"Welfare benefits are not available as a fundamental right. Lavine v. Milne, 424 U.S. 577, 96 S.Ct. 1010, 47 L.Ed.2d 249 (1976). Therefore, the denial of medical assistance under Title XIX, which flows directly from ineligibility for A.F.D.C. cash benefits under Iowa law, does not deprive plaintiffs of their rights to equal protection of the law." 545 F.2d at p. 1105.

While both the <u>Lavine</u> and <u>Alcala</u> cases deal with welfare benefits under the Social Security system, the effect is no different in this case. The right to housing is not a fundamental right constitutionally protected. Perhaps more on point is the case of <u>Black v. Beame</u>, 419 F. Supp. 599 (S.D.N.Y. 1976). In that case the Court held:

"There is no constitutional obligation on the State either to provide plaintiffs with welfare or housing benefits or to affirmatively insure a given type of family life, and none may be created by inference and misdirection through the penumbral constitutional right to familial privacy." 419 F. Supp. at p. 607.

Appellees contend that such is also the case here. That is, the right to be housed in the low income housing is not such a fundamental right that it therefore comes within the Constitutional protection of the right to privacy.

In the <u>Black</u> case, supra, which has some interesting parallels to the situation at hand, the New York Court said that while it may not always agree with the state's distribution or the state's largess, it is not empowered to enforce its own views without a constitutional basis, and that they

can find no such basis there. The New York Court then goes on to quote the U. S. Supreme Court saying:

"'The Constitution may impose certain procedural safeguards upon systems of welfare administration, Goldberg v. Kelly, 397 U.S. 254, 90 S.Ct. 1011, 25 L.Ed. 287 (1970). But the Constitution does not empower this Court to second-guess state officials charged with the difficult responsibility of allocating limited public welfare funds among the myriad of potential recipients' Dandrige v. Williams, 397 U.S. at 487, 90 S.Ct. at 1163."

This would certainly appear to be the situation here. The Constitution does not empower this Court to second-guess what the housing officials, charged with the difficult responsibility of ensuring that the public housing goes to those in the most need, chooses as its methods for granting the available housing space.

In order to ensure that the low income housing available goes to those who are most needy the Housing Authority has devised a plan by which to administer the housing program. According to this plan, it is a necessity and a requirement that an application be filled out by all prospective tenants. This application details the applicant's background and financial assets and highlights any special needs or problems. It is only through these applications that the Housing Authority is able to evaluate all of the applicants and to fairly and equitably give the housing space available to those who are the most needy. This is the way the Housing Authority has chosen to administer its public trust. There is nothing within this procedure that denies any person a fundamental

right nor invades any person's right to privacy.

The Public Records Act which makes all public documents open to the public unless there is a statutory exception, also serves a valid public purpose. What happens when these two statutory schemes are combined is that all of the applications on file at the Public Housing Authority become public records. As public records they are open to public viewing by anyone who comes in during reasonable hours and makes a proper request to the Housing Authority. By having these files subject to the Public Records Act, the taxpayers, who are the funders of this public trust, are able to come in, to inspect the records, and to assure themselves that the Public Housing Authority is being run properly; that is, the taxpayers are able to make certain that those people who are most needy are the ones who are being granted public housing.

The Appellants are essentially claiming that when these two statutory schemes, the low-income housing plan and the Sunshine law, combine, there is somehow created a right of privacy that does not exist under either statutory scheme separately, and that this right of privacy is then being constitutionally invaded. It is hard to see how the Appellants can successfully promote this "newly-created privacy."

From the foregoing, and from the holdings and direc-

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